RECEIVED

06-05-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2015AP207

SCOTT SMITH,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Cross-Appellant,

ALPHA CARGO TECHNOLOGY, LLC,

Plaintiff,

v.

GREG KLEYNERMAN,

Defendant-Appellant-Cross-Respondent,

RED FLAG CARGO SECURITY SYSTEMS, LLC,

Defendant.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County Honorable Pedro Colon, Presiding Case No. 2011CV18551

BRIEF OF APPELLANT GREG KLEYNERMAN

Thomas L. Shriner, Bar No. 1015208 Max B. Chester, Bar No. 1037717 Philip C. Babler, Bar No. 1070437 FOLEY & LARDNER LLP 777 East Wisconsin Avenue Milwaukee WI 53202-5306

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant-Cross-Respondent Greg Kleynerman

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues in this case arise from a transaction in which a Wisconsin limited liability company (LLC), of which Greg Kleynerman and Scott Smith were equal 50% members, sold all its assets—patents and related rights—to a third party buyer and became the buyer's sales representative. Both Kleynerman and Smith ratified the transaction. More than two years after the transaction, Smith sued Kleynerman, asserting (in the only claim upon which the judgment is based) breach of fiduciary duty in connection with the transaction.

- I. Did Kleynerman, under the facts established at trial, owe Smith a fiduciary duty to further Smith's personal interest in the transaction?
- II. If there was such a fiduciary duty, was there sufficient evidence at trial to support the verdict that Kleynerman breached it?
- III. Was Smith's breach of fiduciary duty claim, brought 30 months after the transaction closed, timely under the (then) two-year statute of limitations of Wis. Stat. § 893.57?

- IV. Did Smith, as a member of the LLC, have standing to recover damages suffered by the LLC?
- V. Was there competent evidence at trial to sustain the jury's award to Smith of damages for breach of fiduciary duty?

In denying the motions after verdict, the circuit court implicitly answered all these issues in the affirmative, though it did not address any of them directly.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are warranted. Wis. Stat. §§ 809.23(1)(a)1.&5., 809.22(2). The circuit court's decision demonstrates that the principles governing the duties of LLC members to each other are in need of further development. And the appeal raises several other important issues on fiduciary duties, standing, and damages. The case presents one of the first opportunities for this Court to interpret the amendments to Wis. Stat. § 907.02 on admissibility of expert testimony. A published

opinion would help clarify these issues, and the Court would benefit from oral argument as it decides them.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Smith filed this lawsuit in December 2011, asserting that he had been mentally incompetent in June 2009 when he signed agreements by which his and Kleynerman's struggling company had sold its only assets and became a sales representative of the buyer. The primary claim, against the buyer, sought rescission on that ground. Smith's alleged mental incompetence also colored each of the several other claims that he asserted, including a claim for breach of fiduciary duty against Kleynerman.

At trial, the jury observed Smith, listened to the evidence, and returned a verdict against him on his rescission claim, rejecting his incompetence assertion. Smith—concentrating on that assertion—introduced *no* evidence of damages for his breach of fiduciary duty claim; his damages expert expressly did not opine on such damages. The jury nevertheless decided that Kleynerman had breached a fiduciary

duty to Smith and awarded him \$499,000 in compensatory damages.

The circuit court denied Kleynerman's post-trial motion for directed verdict, which contended that the breach of fiduciary duty claim was deficient as a matter of law and that the damages award was not supported by competent evidence. In sustaining the verdict, the court declined to address the legal issues that Kleynerman raised.

Nature of the Case

Alpha Cargo Technology, LLC (ACT), a Wisconsin LLC, sold its patents and related materials (its only assets) to Red Flag Cargo Security Systems LLC (Red Flag) in June 2009 and became a sales representative of Red Flag. Kleynerman and Smith, as the only members of ACT (each holding a 50% interest), consented to the transaction. Nevertheless, two-and-one-half years later, in December 2011, Smith sued Kleynerman in a ten-count complaint. Smith sued in his own right and also purported to sue on behalf of ACT; he also named Red Flag as a defendant.

Primarily, Smith sought to rescind the transaction, claiming that he was mentally incompetent when he signed the agreements. Smith abandoned almost all his claims at trial.

Only three of them went to the jury—rescission (by ACT against Red Flag), misrepresentation (by Smith against Kleynerman), and breach of fiduciary duty (by Smith against Kleynerman).

The jury returned a verdict in favor of Kleynerman and Red Flag on the rescission and misrepresentation claims and against Kleynerman for breach of fiduciary duty. The jury awarded Smith \$499,000 in compensatory damages, even though by the opening of trial Smith was seeking just \$175,000 for misrepresentation. The jury also awarded \$200,000 in punitive damages, which the trial court struck.

The viability of the judgment against Kleynerman entered on the verdict depends on the Court's answering all of the questions presented in Smith's favor. Does a fiduciary duty between LLC members arise on the facts presented at trial; if so, was there a breach of that duty: was the claim timely brought;

did Smith have standing to recover the damages he claimed; and was any competent evidence presented to support the damages award? A "no" answer to *any* of these questions requires reversal and the entry of judgment in Kleynerman's favor.

Statement of Facts

There were two principal areas of competing evidence presented at trial: whether Smith was mentally incompetent when ACT entered into the 2009 transaction and whether Kleynerman made false statements of fact to Smith concerning the transaction. Both of these factual disputes were decided against Smith. The facts relevant to the breach of fiduciary duty claim, described below, were largely undisputed.

I. THE PARTIES

A. Greg Kleynerman

Greg Kleynerman immigrated to the United States from Ukraine, with his family, 25 years ago. (R.153, 9/25/14 Tr. at 229:12-32:25.) He had studied engineering in Ukraine for three years in the late 1980s but did not finish his studies and did not get a college degree. (*Id.* at 231:8-32:4.) Upon arrival in

Milwaukee, Kleynerman began working as a tailor and soon bought a tailor shop and later a dry cleaning business. (*Id.* at 233:6-34:10.)

When the post-Soviet markets opened up to foreign investments in the early 1990s, Kleynerman saw an opportunity there, sold his dry cleaning business, and began to import consumer goods (mainly shoes and clothing) into Russia. (R.153, 9/25/14 Tr. at 234:14-35:22.) After the 1998 collapse of the Russian currency, Kleynerman's consumer goods importing business suffered, and he began to look into new business opportunities. (*Id.* at 236:3-18.) One such opportunity was to sell cargo security seals to Russian businesses that had the need for these products. (*Id.*) In looking for a supplier of cargo security seals, Kleynerman met Scott Smith. (*Id.* at 237:3-6.)

B. Scott Smith

Scott Smith is Kleynerman's contemporary and lives in Minneapolis. He is widowed; his wife of 20 years died in 2007

Cargo security seals are locks used on cargo containers to prevent theft.

after being diagnosed with lung cancer that year. (R.150, 9/22/14 Tr. at 164:6.) Smith graduated from the University of Wisconsin-Green Bay with a degree in Spanish and International Business. (*Id.* at 135:19-21.) Smith also has a Master's Degree from the American Graduate School of International Management. (*Id.* at 136:12-16.). When Kleynerman met Smith in the late 1990s, Smith worked for a cargo security seal manufacturer. (*Id.* at 138:4-10).

II. KLEYNERMAN'S AND SMITH'S CARGO SECURITY SEAL BUSINESSES

A. Smith and Kleynerman Form ACT

Shortly after Kleynerman met Smith, they set up their own company (with a third partner) to distribute cargo security seals in Europe. (R.153, 9/25/14 Tr. at 238:12-39:25.)

That company was called Alpha Technology International (ATI). (*Id.* at 238:15.) After a couple of years of modest sales, ATI was closed because of a disagreement between Smith and the third partner. (*Id.* at 240:15-42:19.)

Smith and Kleynerman then formed ACT in 2002, to distribute cargo security seals in the United States. (Id. at 241:22-44:17.) ACT was organized as a Wisconsin limited liability company (R.139, Def. Ex. 1.); Kleynerman and Smith each had a 50% membership interest. (R.1, Complaint ¶8.) ACT had no employees, no offices, and no manufacturing facilities. (R.154, 9/26/14 Tr. at 27:20-25.) Kleynerman and Smith ran ACT out of their homes in Milwaukee and Minneapolis, respectively. (*Id.*) ACT bought cargo security seals made by Chinese and European manufacturers and resold them to ACT's customers in the Americas. (R.153, 9/25/14 Tr. at 254:17-55:23; R.139, DX² 180.) ACT's main supplier was a Ukrainian manufacturer called VTP (R.153, 9/25/14 Tr. at 243:19-21), whose management and engineering staff Kleynerman knew well. (*Id.* at 243:15-44:17.)

In the late 1990s-early 2000s, Kleynerman worked with VTP's engineers in Ukraine on the locking mechanism of a

9

² Citations to DX and PX are to defendants' trial exhibits and plaintiffs' trial exhibits, respectively.

cargo security seal and contributed to certain inventions that were made in that collaborative process. (*Id.* at 246:11-51:13.)

Kleynerman and Smith believed that if the seals that ACT was selling were patented in the United States, ACT would sell more of them. Therefore, ACT filed three patent applications in the United States on the locking mechanism inventions that resulted from Kleynerman's work with VTP's engineers. (R.139, DX 179.)

Kleynerman was listed as one of the inventors, and the inventors assigned the issued U.S. patents to ACT. (*Id.*)

B. ACT Fails to Achieve Financial Success

Kleynerman and Smith divided their responsibilities in ACT. Because of his relationships with the Ukrainian manufacturer and knowledge of the technology, Kleynerman was responsible for the "technical" aspects, such as receipt of products in the United States, storage (in his garage), packaging, and shipment of products to the customers. (R.154, 9/26/14 Tr. at 24:21-25:16.) Smith, because of his presence on the boards of various trade organizations in cargo security industry, was responsible for marketing and sales. (*Id.*)

ACT struggled financially at all times. The following chart lists ACT's revenues and net income (loss) between 2003 and 2008:

Year	ACT's Revenue	Net Income/(Loss)
2003 (R.139, DX2)	\$18,856	(\$4,199)
2004 (R.139, DX3)	\$23,677	\$2,910
2005 (R.139, DX4)	\$112,723	(\$115,639)
2006 (R.139, DX5)	\$680,187 ³	\$289,423
2007 (R.139, DX6)	\$475,813	\$175,221
2008 (R.139, DX7)	\$56,428	(\$4,571)

As the worldwide economy was collapsing throughout 2008 and early 2009, it was evident to Smith and Kleynerman that they could no longer operate ACT as before. Their business model of buying cargo security seals made by third parties outside the United States, importing them into this country, and

ACT's only large order came from Cemex, a cement manufacturer located in Mexico. In 2007, Cemex ceased ordering ACT seals. (R.151, 9/23/14 Tr. at 192:10-94:5, 190:25-91:2.)

then re-selling them overseas was not working. (R.154, 9/26/14 Tr. at 31:19-34:2, R.139, DX 13.) Smith and Kleynerman discussed different options, including closing ACT and getting new jobs. (R.154, 9/26/14 Tr. at 34:11-14, 52:8-13.) Smith suggested that ACT start buying Chinese seals to sell on the internet. (R.139, DX 14, A.App.135; R.154, 9/26/14 Tr. at 42:12-44:16.) Kleynerman did not think that this model would work because ACT did not have money to prepay for the products, to advertise, or to front shipping costs. (R.154, 9/26/14 Tr. at 44:9-45:25.) Besides, Kleynerman had no money to invest in this operation, and Smith was not willing to invest any of his personal funds. (*Id.* at 44:17-20.)

Instead, Kleynerman suggested, and Smith agreed, that the only way for them to continue in this business was to find investors who would build a manufacturing facility in Milwaukee to produce the seals in the United States, to have an inventory on hand, and then to sell them from the existing inventory. (*Id.* at 46:6-17.)

C. Kleynerman Finds Investors to Allow ACT to Survive

In late 2008 and early 2009, as ACT was struggling for survival, Kleynerman began to discuss ACT and the business of cargo security seals with Bruce Glaser. (R.152, 9/24/14 Tr. at 176:4-25.) Glaser is a Milwaukee attorney and CPA who has been investing in local Milwaukee businesses for the last 20 years. (*Id.* at 173:12-17.)

After Kleynerman told Glaser about the cargo security seal industry, the products ACT was distributing, and the financial difficulties that ACT had, Glaser became interested in investing. (*Id.* at 178:18-179:2.) Glaser understood that an investment was needed to build a manufacturing facility in Milwaukee to produce the seals but Glaser did not want to become an investor *in ACT*. (*Id.* at 179:11-24.) Glaser did not know enough about ACT's liabilities and in any event wanted a new company that he could control. (*Id.*) Glaser also understood that construction of a manufacturing facility and purchase of machinery would require capital investment that Glaser was not

willing to finance solely on his own. (*Id.*) So, Kleynerman convinced his old friend, Greg Grinberg, who had previously lent money to ACT for operations, to invest alongside Glaser. (*Id.* at 180:11-16.) Grinberg agreed, and Glaser proceeded with the transaction.

III. GLASER, KLEYNERMAN, AND SMITH NEGOTIATE A TRANSACTION BY WHICH ACT SELLS ITS PATENTS TO GLASER'S NEW COMPANY AND BECOMES ITS SALE REPRESENTATIVE

A. Glaser Forms Red Flag

Glaser set up two separate Wisconsin limited liability companies for this transaction, one to be responsible for production and the other for sales. (*Id.* at 180:21-83:24.) The "production" company was named "Capitol Cargo Security LLC" (later renamed "Alpha Cargo Technology Production LLC" and later "Red Flag Production LLC") (R.139, DXs 41 and 43), and the "sales" company was named Alpha Cargo Technology Marketing LLC (later renamed "Red Flag Cargo Security Systems, LLC" (R.139, DX 40 and 42; R.152, 9/24/14 Tr. at 181-3). Glaser became a 75% owner of each company and Grinberg became a

25% owner of each, reflecting each party's agreement to pay for the necessary production facility, equipment, and machinery.
(R.152, 9/24/14 Tr. at 183:2-84:5.)

B. Memorandum of Understanding Between ACT and Red Flag

In March, 2009, Glaser prepared and presented Kleynerman and Smith with a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) that described the terms of a potential transaction between Red Flag and ACT. (R.139, DXs 55, 192; R.152, 9/24/14 Tr. at 184:22-85:6.) The very first draft of the MOU clearly provided that ACT was selling its patents to Red Flag and that ACT was going to become Red Flag's sales representative for an initial term of one year. (R.139, DX 55.) Smith commented on the draft MOU and sought an increase in the consideration that Red Flag was to pay ACT for the patents. (E.g., R.152, 9/24/14 Tr. at 188:6-16.)

After the terms of the proposed transaction were agreed upon, Smith, Kleynerman, and Glaser met in Milwaukee, again reviewed the terms, and signed the MOU. (R.139, DX 56,

A.App.140; R.152, 9/24/14 Tr. at 189:6-190:2.) The MOU provided that Red Flag was to pay ACT \$45,000⁴ for the patents if ACT made no sales or up to \$70,000 if ACT made sales, at the rate of \$0.05 for each seal sold. (R.139, DX 56, A.App.140.) In addition, as a sales representative of Red Flag, ACT would be paid a commission equal to 50% of gross profit on each seal sold. (*Id.*)

The MOU also contained a provision entitled "Authorization to Negotiate and Sign Documents," which authorized Kleynerman, on behalf of ACT, to sign documents that would "assign all patents, the website, and logo to [Red Flag]." (Id.) This provision allowed Kleynerman to sign on behalf of ACT various ancillary documents (patent assignments, trademark assignments) that might have to be filed with the various

ACT owed this sum to its patent counsel. (R.154, 9/26/14 Tr. at 86:22-25; R.139, DX 189.)

recording offices once the asset sale agreement was signed.⁵ (R.152, Tr. 9/24/14 at 193:2-195:14.)

C. ACT and Red Flag Negotiate and Sign the Asset Sale Agreement and the Sales Representative Agreement

After the MOU was signed, Glaser's counsel prepared drafts of the transactional documents described in the MOU. (R.152, 9/24/14 Tr. at 195:18-96:20.) On April 24, 2009, Glaser sent Smith and Kleynerman drafts of these documents. (R.139, DX 57, A.App.142.) Glaser and Smith (on behalf of ACT) engaged in much back-and-forth negotiation of these documents by email and phone. (R.139, DX 60.) Kleynerman did not make any comments on the drafts. (*E.g.*, R.139, DXs 58-59, A.App.143-44.) On May 11, 2009, in commenting on the draft patent assignment forms, Smith acknowledged that Kleynerman was listed as signatory on behalf of ACT and wrote only that *if* Smith's signature, too, was necessary on this document, his name should

See generally USPTO, "FAQs," http://www.uspto.gov/learning-andresources/transferring-ownership-assignments-faqs ("What does it mean when a document is "recorded?").

be added. (R.139, DX 59, A.App.144, 148.) On May 22, 2009, Glaser sent Smith and Kleynerman revised clean drafts of the agreements and redlines showing changes to prior drafts requested by Smith. (R.139, DX 62, A.App.151.) Later that afternoon, Smith responded that he was ready to sign the documents. (*Id.* at. A.App.152, 5/22/09 2:27 p.m. email.)

The next day, however, Smith identified to Glaser an additional change: Smith wanted to retain for *himself* ACT's web address. (*Id.* at A.App.153, 5/23/09 2:51 p.m. email.) Smith reasoned that "if I am moved out of the equation for whatever reason," it "will be an undue hardship for me to move consulting customers to a new site." (*Id.*)⁶

A few days later, Smith again told Glaser why he wanted to retain the website address for himself. (R.139, DX 63, A.App.155-6, 5/26/09 6:46 p.m. email.) He wrote:

In addition to his involvement in ACT, Smith was operating his own cargo security consulting business at this time, called Harrison Consulting. (R.151, 9/23/14 Tr. at 75:12-15.)

I am still concerned what can happen a year from now. Once this deal is signed I have nothing. If I am pushed out a year from now and am forced to rely on nothing more than the consulting side of the business, I will have to start over from a position of weakness trying to move my contacts to a new site, etc. Since you are not buying Alpha Cargo Technology, I wrongly assumed that you would only get selected content from the website. As it is now stated, you will own everything except the name and I guess I need to work that through. I realize everyone is under a time crunch to get this resolved and get it out of the way but I am working from a position of weakness. I was not involved in the back story, discussions, or ongoing conversations about the offer, etc so it is tough for me to see how this is a good deal for both of us. Let's discuss tomorrow if you have time.

(*Id.*) (emphasis added). Smith recognized that Glaser, as the owner of Red Flag, could terminate ACT as a sales representative after one year and not do business with Smith. Thus, Smith was hedging against that risk by seeking to retain for himself the ACT web address. (*Id.*) Glaser was hesitant to agree to this last-minute change that was inconsistent with the MOU, but, after Kleynerman backed Smith on this point, Glaser gave in. (R.152, 9/24/14 Tr. at 200:2-18.)

On June 4, 2009, Glaser agreed to the last change proposed by Smith, and the two exchanged a number of emails discussing the transaction and the opportunities ahead. (R.139, DX 65.) Later that day, Glaser emailed the revised drafts of the deal documents. (R.139, DX 66.) Smith responded in the morning on June 5, 2009 that he had signed the documents and would be mailing them to Glaser. (*Id.*) Indeed, Smith signed both the Asset Sale Agreement and the Sale Representative Agreement, not once but twice, in his capacity as a 50% member of ACT and also on behalf of ACT as its President. (R.139, DXs. 67 and 68, A.App.159-76.) Kleynerman countersigned these documents only after Glaser received the signed copies from Smith. (R.154, 9/26/14 Tr. at 60:17-21.)

D. After the Sale of Patents to Red Flag,
 Kleynerman Concentrates His Efforts on
 Establishing Manufacturing Capabilities While
 Smith Concentrates on Marketing and Sales

After the Asset Sale Agreement and the Sales

Representative Agreement were signed in June 2009, Red Flag located factory space in Milwaukee for production and began to

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