# **RECEIVED** 10-09-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

# SCOTT SMITH,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Cross-Appellant,

### ALPHA CARGO TECHNOLOGY, LLC,

Plaintiff,

Appeal Case No.: 2015-AP-207

v.

# GREG KLEYNERMAN,

Defendant-Appellant-Cross-Respondent,

RED FLAG CARGO SECURITY SYSTEMS, LLC,

Defendant.

### COMBINED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AND CROSS-APPELLANT SCOTT SMITH

# Appeal from Final Order Entered December 16, 2014 in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, Case No. 2011CV18551, Honorable Pedro Colon, Presiding

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

Smith was not involved in the daily operations of ACT at the time of the Transaction. Kleynerman would email Smith with important updates, and Smith would reword Kleynerman's emails for him, but Smith was not involved in the operations of ACT at all. (R.150, 172:8-11, 182:9-15, R.App.179.) Kleynerman

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Wisconsin courts often look to Delaware law for guidance on matters of corporate law." *Lane v. Sharp Packaging Sys., Inc.*, 2002 WI 28, ¶ 81, 251 Wis. 2d 68, 640 N.W.2d 788.

was making all of ACT's business decisions because Smith trusted him to do what was right on behalf of himself and ACT. (R.150, 176:8-9, R.App.181; R.154, 136:10-12.) Whatever business decisions he made, without Smith's input, were the formal decisions of ACT, so he held all managerial control of the company.

Generally, to "decide any matter connected with the business of a limited liability company" the members must vote, approve of, or voice consent to a decision. Wis. Stat. § 183.0404. By executing the MOU, Smith ceded this authority to Kleynerman, therefore affording Kleynerman complete autonomy to run ACT as he saw fit. Effectively, the MOU rendered Kleynerman as ACT's manager; and in doing so it imposed by default the "equitable fiduciary duties" that apply to "a manager or managing member" of an LLC. *Feeley*, 62 A.3d at 660. Accordingly, Kleynerman was bound to act as a fiduciary to Smith— ACT's other member who ceded control of the company as he dealt with his depression.

## D. KLEYNERMAN AND SMITH, AS EQUAL BUSINESS PARTNERS IN ACT, OWED EACH OTHER A FIDUCIARY DUTY.

Finally, Kleynerman and Smith's status as 50-50 members in ACT demonstrate that they owed one another a fiduciary duty. For more than 100 years, Wisconsin courts have recognized that parties to a joint venture are

treated like partners, and consequently, "owe each other the exercise of good faith and ordinary care and prudence." *Knudson v. George*, 157 Wis. 520, 147 N.W. 1003, 1004 (1914). Thus, the existence of this relationship impos[es] on its members the duties and obligations of fiduciaries." *Jolin v. Oster*, 55 Wis. 2d 199, 206, 198 N.W.2d 639 (1972). As the Eastern District of Wisconsin Bankruptcy Court has explained:

The relationship between joint venturers, like that existing between partners, is fiduciary in character and imposes upon all participants the obligation of loyalty to the joint concern and of the utmost good faith, fairness, and honesty in their dealings with each other with respect to matters pertaining to the enterprise. This is especially true as to the participants in a joint venture who are entrusted with the conduct thereof and the control of the property constituting the subject matter of the enterprise.

In re Selenske, 103 B.R. 200, 202 (1989) (further stating that Wisconsin law "is generally to the same effect.") The fact that parties subsequently reduce their arrangement to a corporate form is irrelevant; the fiduciary obligations flowing from a joint venture can survive incorporation. *Jolin*, 55 Wis. 2d at 211.

The Wisconsin Limited Liability Company Law ("WLLCL"), adopted in 1991, aimed to "create a business entity providing limited liability, flow-through taxation, and simplicity." *Gottsacker v. Monnier*, 2005 WI 69, ¶¶ 18-19, 281 Wis. 2d 361, 697 N.W.2d 436 (citations omitted). In codifying this new corporate form, however, the Legislature retained many characteristics of partnerships, including the "informality of organization and operation" as well as "direct participation by members in the company." *Id.* at ¶ 15.

Moreover, the WLLCL codified certain fiduciary obligations that members owe to each other when conducting the business of the LLC, which is rooted in Wisconsin's Partnership Act and the common law applicable to fiduciaries. *Compare* Wis. Stat. § 183.0405 (LLC members must provide "true and full information of all things affecting the [other] members") with Wis. Stat. § 178.17 (partners must provide "true and full information of all things affecting the partnership to any partner"); see also Wis. Stat. § 183.0402 (a member owes a duty to deal fairly with other members) and Wis. Stat. § 178.18 (a partner has a fiduciary obligation to deal fairly with the partnership); Zastrow, 2006 WI 72 at ¶ 29 (a fiduciary has an obligation to "fully disclos[e] to the beneficiary all information relevant to the beneficiary's interest.") (emphasis added).

Given this similarity between members in an LLC and partners in a partnership courts around the country have held that equal members of an LLC owe one another a fiduciary duty. *See Bushi v. Sage Health Care, PLLC*, 203 P.3d 694, 699 (Idaho 2009) ("[T]he majority of courts considering the issue have concluded that members of an LLC owe one another the fiduciary duties of trust and loyalty.") (collecting cases); *Griffin v. Jones*, 975 F. Supp. 2d 711, 724

(W.D. Ky. 2013) (In Kentucky, a 50-50 member of an LLC "owes a duty of loyalty to fellow members.") (citation omitted).<sup>4</sup>

The logic of these decisions is sound, especially when there are only two members in an LLC who have equal control over the enterprise. Any member who breaches his fiduciary obligation to the LLC disproportionally impacts the only other member to the enterprise. In Wisconsin members of an LLC "with a material conflict of interest may not willfully act or fail to act in a manner that will have the effect of injuring the LLC *or its other members.*" *Gottsacker*, 2005 WI 69 at ¶ 31 (emphasis added).

Thus, apart from the MOU and the special relationship between Smith and Kleynerman, both parties owed one another a fiduciary obligation as equal members in ACT. Having failed to disclaim these common law obligations in any operating agreement, the default provisions apply; therefore, Kleynerman owed Smith a fiduciary obligation to provide "true and full information of all things affecting" Smith's interest in ACT as a result of the Transaction, including Kleynerman's undisclosed interest in Red Flag.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See also Salm v. Feldstein, 20 A.D.3d 469, 470, 799 N.Y.S.2d 104 (2005); Fiederlein v. Boutselis, 952 N.E.2d 847, 860 (Ind. Ct. App. 2011); Bros. v. Winstead, 129 So. 3d 906, 924 (Miss. 2014); McConnell v. Hunt Sports Ent., 725 N.E.2d 1193 (Ohio 1999).

The court's decision in *Estate of Sheppard ex rel. McMorrow v. Specht*, 2012 WI App 124, 344 Wis. 2d 696, 824 N.W.2d 907, which held that 50% shareholders do not owe a fiduciary duty to one another is inapposite. *Sheppard* dealt with a corporation, which was controlled through a board of directors. Thus, the court held that while the defendant owed the plaintiff a fiduciary obligation as a member of the board, it could not declare that the defendant's status as a 50% shareholder—standing alone—created a fiduciary obligation.

Here, however, ACT was member-managed LLC. As discussed above, the MOU granted managerial authority to Kleynerman. Thus, just as a member of a corporation's board of directors owes the corporation's shareholders a fiduciary obligation, Kleynerman's role as the controlling member (through the MOU) rendered him a fiduciary to Smith. But even if the MOU did not vest sufficient managerial control over ACT to render him a fiduciary, the general rules of member-managed LLCs apply, and Kleynerman and Smith owed each other a fiduciary duty, just as partners do. Accordingly, Kleynerman's claim that he did not owe Smith a fiduciary obligation is specious.

#### II. KLEYNERMAN BREACHED HIS FIDUCIARY DUTY TO SMITH.

Kleynerman cites Zastrow for the proposition that the breach of the duty of loyalty involves disloyalty or infidelity. While Zastrow does state that a breach of the duty of loyalty "connotes disloyalty or infidelity," it also goes on to give

examples of wrongful conduct that constitute that disloyalty or infidelity. Zastrow, 2006 WI 72 at ¶ 30. Under Zastrow, a "lawyer can breach his fiduciary duty of loyalty to a client by entering into a contract with a client without full disclosure that the contract will benefit the lawyer and potentially disadvantage the client." Id.

As discussed above, Kleynerman owed Smith a fiduciary obligation. (See supra Section I.) Kleynerman's wrongful conduct closely mirrors the conduct that Zastrow deemed a breach of the duty of loyalty. Kleynerman, acting as Smith's attorney in fact, signed Smith's patents over to Red Flag without Smith's knowledge and without fully disclosing to Smith how the transaction would affect Smith's interests—a violation of his common law duty of full disclosure, *id.*, which is also codified Section 184.0405 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

Kleynerman argues that he merely chose to "find a way to keep ACT afloat, to provide an opportunity for ACT's long-term success, and thereby provide an opportunity for Smith." (Appellant's Br. 46–47.) Kleynerman's testimony reveals that he did not consider the viability of other options regarding ACT's patents before transferring them to Glaser. Kleynerman stated that he did not even consider auctioning off a patent, explaining that "[n]obody would buy this patent anyway." (R.154, 114:1; R.App.271.)

Kleynerman cannot convincingly argue that he did not act in his own self-interest when, rather than explore all available options for ACT's patents, he quickly chose to work with Glaser and Grinberg in the Red Flag venture, Kleynerman now owns outright. Indeed, after the MOU was signed, but before the Asset Sale Transaction was consummated, Kleynerman was already teaming up with Glaser and Red Flag without Smith's knowledge. For example, Kleynerman was copied on correspondence where Glaser instructed Fream to "plead ignorance" regarding the structure of the deal in order to exploit Smith's confusion and induce him to sign the Transaction documents. (R.139, PX44; R.153, 204:3-205:1.)

Kleynerman also had signature authority on checks written from the Red Flag account, and he testified at trial that he had this authority "to run the company." (R.154, 70:11-22.) Although Kleynerman downplayed the importance of his Red Flag check writing authority as way to ensure that vendors could get paid while Glaser was out of town, the authority to write checks and control the books of a company is managerial authority. (R.154, 70:18-21; R.App.264.)

The facts at trial established that Kleynerman not only owed Smith a fiduciary duty, but also that he breached that duty when he acted in his own self-interest and transferred the patents to Red Flag without Smith's knowledge.

The trial court considered this evidence in the light most favorable to the jury's determination in its post-trial decision and correctly denied the Defendants' motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. (R.122.) As such, the trial court's decision should be affirmed as to this issue.

# III. SMITH'S BREACH OF FIDUCIARY CLAIM WAS TIMELY ASSERTED.

Kleynerman also contends that Smith's breach of fiduciary duty claim is timed barred pursuant to Section 893.57 of the Wisconsin Statutes ("Section 893.57")—the application statute of limitations for fiduciary duty claims. (Appellant's Br. 49.) Kleynerman forfeited this argument, however, by failing to submit jury instructions or special verdict questions on this issue, thereby depriving the jury of an opportunity to make these findings of fact. Even absent Kleynerman's forfeiture, Smith's breach of fiduciary duty claim is subject to both the continuous violation doctrine and the discovery rule; each of which renders his claim timely.

## A. KLEYNERMAN FORFEITED HIS STATUTE OF LIMITATION DEFENSE BECAUSE HE FAILED TO PRESENT THIS QUESTION TO THE JURY.

A forfeiture occurs when a party fails "to make the timely assertion of a right." *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 29, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612. In many instances, a party forfeits certain rights "when they are not claimed at trial." *Id.* at ¶ 30. When a party forfeits certain rights at trial, appellate review

is precluded. *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 ("It is a fundamental principle of appellate review that issues must be preserved at the circuit court.")

The forfeiture rule<sup>5</sup> "is not merely a technicality or a rule of convenience; it is an essential principle of the orderly administration of justice." *Id.* at ¶ 11. The rule "enable[s] the circuit court to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption of the judicial process, eliminating the need for appeal." *Ndina*, 2009 WI 21 at ¶ 30 (citation omitted). "The forfeiture rule also gives both parties and the circuit court notice of the issue and a fair opportunity to address the objection; encourages attorneys to diligently prepare for and conduct trials; and prevents attorneys from 'sandbagging' opposing counsel by failing to object to an error for strategic reasons and later claiming that the error is grounds for reversal." *Id.* 

Relevant here, Kleynerman moved for summary judgment on his statute of limitations defense (R.88, 223–24), which the Trial court properly denied because there were disputed issues of material fact concerning when Smith learned of Kleynerman's breach. (R.145, 33:7-10); John Doe 1 v. Archdiocese of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As the Supreme Court of Wisconsin has acknowledged, Wisconsin courts have loosely used the terms "waiver" and "forfeiture" to mean the same thing, although they have different meanings. *Huebner*, 2000 WI 59 at ¶ 11, n.2; *Ndina*, 2009 WI 21 at ¶ 28.

Milwaukee, 2007 WI 95, ¶ 53, 303 Wis. 2d 34, 734 N.W.2d 827 (The "date of discovery" for statute of limitations purposes "is generally a question of fact for the jury and is a question of law only where the facts are undisputed."). Accordingly, Kleynerman had the burden at trial to prove that Smith's fiduciary duty claim was timed barred. See Doe, 2007 WI 95 at ¶ 62; see also Strong v. Brushafer, 185 Wis. 2d 812, 820 n.5, 519 N.W.2d 668 (Ct. App. 1994) (the defendant bears the burden of proof on any affirmative defense it pleads).

Therefore, Kleynerman was required to present the statute of limitations defense and, if asserted, the additional factual issue concerning whether Smith failed to exercise reasonable diligence to the jury. See, e.g., Gumg v. N. States Power Co., 2007 WI 135, ¶ 49, 305 Wis. 2d 263 (stating that statute of limitation defenses based on failure to exercise reasonable diligence present questions of fact appropriate for a jury). If Kleynerman had submitted such factual issues to the jury, Smith would have had the opportunity to present evidence and jury instructions regarding the discovery rule, the continuing violation doctrine and equitable estoppel. Instead, Kleynerman abandoned the statute of limitations argument in front of the jury and presented no argument, instructions, or questions on the special verdict regarding the issue. (R.155, Def's Closing Argument, 54:23 – 74:10; R. 101, Def's Proposed Jury Instruction.) Only after

the trial was concluded did Kleynerman raise the statute of limitations argument in his motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. (R.116, 14–16.)

Kleynerman's failure to address these issues at trial constitutes a forfeiture of his statute of limitations defense. *See Best Price Plumbing, Inc. v. Erie Ins. Exch.*, 2012 WI 44, ¶¶ 35–38, 340 Wis. 2d 307 (finding forfeiture when jury was not instructed about or asked to answer any questions that would support a point of law); *see also* Wis. Stat. § 805.13(3) (stating that a party waives any claimed error in the special verdict when it fails to make an objection on the record); *State v. Shab*, 134 Wis. 2d 246, 251 n.4, 397 N.W.2d 492 (1986) ("[E]ven when a[] [jury] instruction misstates the law, the party must object to the instruction to preserve a challenge to the instruction as of right on appeal [and] [f]ailure to object to an instruction constitutes waiver of the error.")

Allowing Kleynerman to raise post-trial contentions that Smith's claim was barred by the statute of limitations—despite approving the jury instructions and verdict which are devoid of any information to aid the jury in determining this question of fact—would promote precisely the sort of "sandbagging" that the forfeiture rule was designed to prevent. "A party is not permitted to save its legal arguments until after trial, only to present those arguments if the party dislikes the jury's ultimate conclusion." *Best Price*, 2012 WI 44 at ¶ 41.

## B. SMITH'S BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY CLAIM IS TIMELY IRRESPECTIVE OF KLEYNERMAN'S FORFEITURE.

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